Filed 08-24-2021

Page 1 of 35

FILED 08-24-2021 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS**

STATE OF WISCONSIN **COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I**

Appeal No. 2021 AP 1100

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ALBERTO RIVERA,

Defendant- Appellant.

BRIEF & APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DENYING A NEW TRIAL ENTERED ON JUNE 23, 2021, IN THE CIRCUIT **COURT OF MILWAUKEE COUNTY** The Honorable Jeffrey A. Wagner, Presiding Trial Court Case No. 2015 CF 1640

Respectfully submitted:

ANDEREGG & ASSOCIATES Post Office Box 170258 Milwaukee, WI 53217-8021 (414) 963-4590

By: Rex R. Anderegg State Bar No. 1016560 Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. **WHETHER TRIAL COUNSEL** WAS **INEFFECTIVE BY FAILING** TO SECURE **SUPPRESSION OF** THE **IN-COURT IDENTIFICATION OF** RIVERA BY THE STATE'S **PRIMARY** WITNESS ON THE GROUNDS IT WAS TAINTED BY A HIGHLY SUGGESTIVE "SHOW-UP" PROCEDURE.

The trial court answered: No.

II. WHETHER TRIAL COUNSEL WAS **INEFFECTIVE** IN FAILING TO **SECURE SUPPRESSION OF** THE **IN-COURT IDENTIFICATION OF RIVERA** \mathbf{BY} THE STATE'S PRIMARY WITNESS BASED ON A VIOLATION OF HIS RIGHT TO HAVE RETAINED COUNSEL PRESENT DURING THE LINE-UP PROCEDURE.

The trial court answered: No.

III. WHETHER POST-CONVICTION COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO RAISE THE CLEARLY STRONGER ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL CONSTITUTED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF POST-CONVICTION COUNSEL.

The trial court answered: No.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

The appellant believes the Court's opinion in this case will meet the criteria for publication as it will clarify, *inter alia*, a defendant's right to have his or her retained attorney present for a post-indictment line-up procedure.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

The appellant does not request oral argument insofar as he believes the briefs will sufficiently explicate the facts and law necessary for this Court to decide the issues presented.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 16, 2015, the State filed a criminal complaint charging Rivera with Felon in Possession of a Firearm (FPF) and an arrest warrant issued. (R1; R2). The complaint described an incident where Henry Hodges had been shot and killed and B.J. shot and wounded. (R2). By the time the complaint was filed, Rivera had heard from his parole officer, that he was wanted for questioning. (R200). Thus, Rivera hired Attorney Robert LeBell to represent him on the FPF charge and Attorney LeBell made arrangements for Rivera to turn himself in. (*Id.*). Rivera, however, decided not to turn himself in, and was eventually arrested on August 20, 2015. (R201, Ex. A, p. 1). When arrested, and later when questioned, Rivera asked for "his" attorney: Attorney Robert LeBell. (*Id.*; R200). On August 26, 2015, Rivera made his initial appearance on the FPF charge. (R230).

Later that same day, Rivera was taken for a live line-up procedure for B.J. to identify the shooter. (R201, Exhibit A, p. 2). Once again, Rivera asked that Attorney LeBell be contacted and present for the line-up procedure. (R200). Law enforcement refused to do so, however, instead telling Rivera "there's your attorney," while pointing at a female Rivera did not know. (*Id.*; R201, Ex. A, p. 2). Rivera said she was not his attorney and again asked for Attorney LeBell. (R200). Once it became apparent police were not going to honor his request, Rivera cooperated with the line-up. (*Id.*). B.J., who had already been shown a single photo of Rivera (with the name "Alberto" on it), picked Rivera out of the line-up.

On September 3, 2015, Rivera appeared for his preliminary hearing with Attorney Joseph Kennedy, sent by Attorney LeBell. (R231). On that same date, the State filed an Information charging Rivera with more charges, including first degree intentional homicide and attempted first degree intentional homicide. Rivera waived the preliminary hearing. (R231).

On September 14, 2015, Rivera appeared with Attorney LeBell. (R232-2). Attorney LeBell, confirming he had been retained for the FPF charge, but noting he had not yet been retained for the homicide charges, asked for more time so

Rivera could determine when he could retain him for those more serious charges. (*Id.* at 2-3). On September 29, 2015, Attorney LeBell again appeared with Rivera, but moved to withdraw noting Rivera had been unable to retain him for the more serious charges. (R233-2-3). The motion was granted, and Rivera eventually hired other private counsel. (*Id.*).

On November 9, 2015, the State filed a motion to introduce other acts evidence; a 1997 homicide involving Rivera. (R11). On December 18, 2015, the court heard the motion and ruled it would not allow the evidence unless Rivera testified and presented a defense of identity or motive, in which the case the door would open, and the prior act evidence could come in. (R235-14-15). On June 26, 2017, following numerous adjournments, a final pretrial was conducted. Once again, this it was noted that the court would address the prior act evidence when the defense rested. (R258).

On July 10, 2017, a jury trial began. (R259). An overview of the evidence is set forth below. B.J. identified Rivera in court as the shooter. Rivera testified and denied he was the shooter. Rather than waiting for the State to present evidence of the prior act in rebuttal, Rivera and his counsel made a strategic decision to address his prior act during his direct examination. (R265-7-8). Rivera admitted he had been in prison because in 1997, he and a friend had tried to rob someone, and he shot and killed someone by accident. Rivera was 18 years old at that time, and had pled guilty. (R264-47).

A cautionary instruction was given to the jury regarding the proper use of this prior acts evidence. (R264-154-55). On July 17, 2017, the jury returned guilty verdicts on all counts. (R266-2-4). Rivera was sentenced to life without parole. (R188). Rivera appealed and argued two issues: (1) admission of other acts evidence was prejudicial error; and (2) insufficiency of the evidence. On April 30, 2019, this Court rejected both arguments. *State v. Rivera*, Appeal No. 2018 AP 952-CR.

On November 10, 2020, Rivera filed a motion, pursuant to section 974.06, Stats., requesting a new trial based on ineffective assistance of counsel. (R198). The bases for that motion are the same as the issues presented here for appeal.

(*Id.*). On June 23, 2021, the circuit court denied the motion without a hearing. (R226). The rationale for that decision, including its adoption of the State's brief, is discussed *infra*. This appeal followed. (R227).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On April 8, 2015, Romaine Hailey was at his West Allis home watching TV when he heard gunshots, a woman screaming, and squealing tires. (R260-82-91). He looked out his dining room window and saw a body in the backseat of a car, and the woman who was screaming. (*Id.*). Moments later, Claudia Derringer, who lived in an apartment building across the street, heard pounding on her lobby door and when she opened it, saw B.J. standing outside, frantic and crying, with blood on her hands and head, and asking to be let in. (*Id.* at 92-100). B.J. said "they" had just shot her and her boyfriend. Derringer dialed 911. (*Id.*). Police were dispatched and found the deceased Hodges right behind the driver's seat, his arms tied behind his back with electrical cord, and duct tape wrapped around his wrists and mouth. 4 (*Id.* at 114-120).

The State's primary witness was B.J., who had known Hodges for six months and was his girlfriend. (R262-5). She said that on April 8, 2015, she called Hodges and told him she was hungry. He picked her up in his SUV and they headed to Speed Queen. (*Id.* at 6-9). On the way, Hodges got a call and she heard him say they were going to Rivera's house. (*Id.*). His demeanor remained normal. (*Id.*). At some point, however, they were also pulled over for tinted windows and delayed.⁵ (*Id.*).

⁴ The vehicle was processed. (R261-7). Two prints were found on the outside of the vehicle, and bullets and casings inside the vehicle. Police processed the vehicle for DNA and swabbed door handles, grab handles, seats, blood stains, window smears, the gear shift, etc. Police also recovered rolled up duct tape found on the floor. Forensics determined there were at least two weapons, and maybe three, involved in the incident,

but no firearms were ever recovered. Nor were Rivera's prints, or his DNA, ever connected to the crime scene.

3

-

⁵ She claimed to have seen Rivera 5-6 times, and to have been at his house once before, but never inside. (*Id.*). As discussed *infra*, the record contains nothing to substantiate this claim and much to cast doubt on it.

When they eventually reached the building where Rivera lived, Hodges got out, went inside, and was gone for about 10-15 minutes, which was normal. (*Id.* at 10-13). She then saw someone come out and she unlocked the door, whereupon she saw a reflection of a light-skinned person going to the back of SUV. (*Id.*). Someone then approached her side of the vehicle and told her to look under the seat. (*Id.*). She did so, and when she came back up, a person had a gun pointed at her head. Although it was dark and she only saw the person for a few, brief seconds, through tinted windows, she would later claim the person was Rivera. (*Id.* at 47). She said Rivera told her to go to the very back of the SUV and keep her head down, and she did by crawling through the vehicle. (*Id.* at 14).

According to B.J., Rivera got into the middle of the SUV on the passenger side. (*Id.* at 15-19). He told her that if she kept her head down she would be fine, and so she did, and crossed her wrists over her forehead. (*Id.*). A black man walked around the car and got in the driver's side, but she could not see who it was. (*Id.*). The car moved to the back of the house and Rivera called to have something brought down. (*Id.*). Hodges was then pushed into the middle seat and his voice was muffled like something was over his mouth. (*Id.*). She then heard the individual ask Hodges where the money was, and Hodges responded that he did not have any. (*Id.*).

B.J. claimed it was Rivera who then demanded they go to Hodges' house to see if he had money there. (*Id.* at 20-24). The car then drove toward Hodges' house at 35th and Greenfield. (*Id.*). Ten minutes later, Rivera demanded Hodges tell him which house was his. Hodges said he would have to raise his head, but they refused. Hodges said they would have to pull around the back to get into the house and they did. Then, another truck pulled up and someone approached Rivera's side to say they forgot Hodges' keys, and Rivera said to go back. (*Id.*).

On the way back, however, and after about 5-6 minutes, the vehicle stopped, and the door opened. (*Id.* at 24-28). She

4

⁶ B.J.'s trial testimony that she saw Rivera as one of the perpetrators was the result of an impermissibly suggestive show-up, as examined in the Argument section of this brief. Nevertheless, the Statement of Facts will refer to "Rivera" as the perpetrator and attribute to him the acts B.J. attributed to him during the trial.

then heard two shots, separated by a pause. (*Id.*). She did not see the shooter but said the shots came from where Rivera had been sitting. (*Id.*). Then someone climbed over the seat toward her and fire two shots, separated by a pause. She did not see this shooter either, nor feel anything, and only later realized she had been shot when she felt blood on her head. She called out for Hodges, but he did not respond. (*Id.*). She then got out of the truck, felt blood coming from her head and, since Hodges was not moving, ran to the apartment across the street, where she encountered Derringer.⁷ (*Id.*).

Page 12 of 35

The next day, while B.J. was still at the hospital, the police showed her a single photo of Rivera with the name Alberto emblazoned across the bottom. (*Id.* at 44). Police asked her if the photo depicting Rivera was someone from the incident. (*Id.*). B.J. responded affirmatively. (*Id.*). From that point forward, Rivera, in B.J.'s mind, became the person who had been the shooter. And when Rivera was later apprehended, B.J. identified Rivera in a line-up. (*Id.*). The only person in the line-up that she had seen a photograph of was Rivera. (*Id.* at 44).

Rivera admitted he knew Hodges. Indeed, they had been in prison together and when they got out, they began selling drugs together. (R264-46). Hodges supplied Rivera with heroin and cocaine, and they would generally see each other throughout the day at different places. (*Id.* at 48-49). Rivera, for his part, was running drugs out of the Appleton apartment, which actually belonged to his girlfriend, Gitonna, as Rivera had his own place in West Bend. (*Id.* at 50-53). There were several people who Rivera, in turn, was supplying and who

-

⁷ There was much B.J. did not see, as she took seriously the order to keep her head down. (*Id.* at 41-44). She did not know where the driver of the car was when the door opened. (*Id.*). She did not know how many people brought Hodges to the car. (*Id.*). She did not know where the other person from the other vehicle came from, the one who was talking about getting the keys. (*Id.*). B.J. also did not know who was in the apartment Hodges entered. (*Id.*). She did not know how many people were in the other vehicle. (*Id.*). And most notably, she did not see who shot her or Hodges. (*Id.*). On the way to the hospital, however, she gave police the name Berto, and she used her phone to show police the location of the apartment where she and Hodges had gone. (*Id.*).

would get a share of the drugs, and these included Levell Drew and Terrance Jackson.⁸ (*Id.* at 50-51).

In fact, Rivera and Hodges had a great personal relationship and a mutually profitable business relationship, with no animosity. (*Id.* at 48-49). Neither ever cheated nor shorted the other. (*Id.* at 49). Rivera, on the other hand, had never met Hodges' new girlfriend, B.J. (*Id.* at 128). Among the places where Rivera and Hodges would meet was Hodge's place. (53). Thus, the idea that Rivera would have needed Hodges to point out where he (i.e. Hodges) lived made no sense. (*Id.* at 53).

Rivera admitted he called Hodges on April 8, 2015, to ask him to supply drugs for sales the following day, as Rivera's supply was dwindling. (*Id.* at 54-58). Hodges agreed to make a drop-off to Rivera, and no other reason for why Hodges went to the Appleton residence is apparent on the record. Rivera's request to Hodges was not unusual. Rivera would typically be one of Hodges' last stops for drug delivery each day. (*Id.* at 56). Thus, Rivera, along with Drew and Jackson who were hanging around to be supplied, in turn, by Rivera, waited for Hodges to arrive. (*Id.* at 56-58).

Because Hodges affirmed he was on his way, Rivera waited a long time. (*Id.* at 56). Rivera, however, had another customer coming from out of town who had called and arranged for Rivera to make a delivery. (*Id.* at 57-59). Thus, Rivera, not knowing Hodges had been delayed because of a traffic stop for a window tint violation, left to make that delivery. (*Id.* at 57). Rivera took Drew's car, leaving Drew and Jackson behind. (*Id.* at 58-60).

Rivera was gone for about 20-25 minutes. (*Id.* at 58-59). When he returned to Gitonna's place on Appleton, he noticed the lights were turned off in her corner apartment, which he thought strange. (*Id.* at 60). Rivera parked on Appleton and went in the front door, which was the only way to get into Gitonna's second floor apartment. (*Id.* at 60). Rivera had the

-

⁸ Drew was of a similar height, weight, build and complexion as Rivera. (*Id.* at 51). Detective Brandon Hurley also testified that Rivera and Drew are physically similar. (*Id.* at 10).

keys, opened the door, and saw that all the lights were out, and nobody was there. (*Id.* at 61). Rivera also noticed another set of keys on a table in the back of the kitchen. (*Id.* at 65).

Rivera decided to call Jackson. (*Id.* at 65). Jackson told him to ride down to 36th and Greenfield and Rivera jumped in the car and did so. (*Id.*). Rather than take Drew's rental car, however, Rivera drove Gitonna's car because it had tinted windows, and he had a feeling that something was up. (*Id.* at 65-66). When he arrived, he saw what he recognized as Hodges' SUV parked there, and when he saw Jackson get out of the driver's seat, it was clear something was wrong, as Jackson and Hodges were not close associates. (*Id.* at 66-67).

As he pulled up, Jackson walked toward his car and told Rivera to follow him as he was going to park the SUV down the street. (*Id.* at 67-69). He did not tell Rivera what was going on, but Rivera suspected a robbery. (*Id.*). Jackson drove to an alley and Rivera followed. (*Id.*). Rivera did not see anyone in the SUV. (*Id.*). Jackson stopped the SUV in an alley and Rivera stopped too.

At this point, Jackson got out of the SUV, opened the rear passenger's door, and shot his gun twice. (*Id.* at 70). Rivera then saw another flash in the back of the vehicle, and Jackson ran to his vehicle. (*Id.* at 77). He then saw Drew exit the SUV and he also ran to Rivera's vehicle. (*Id.* at 72). At that moment, Rivera roughly understood what had happened (that Hodges had been shot) and he drove Jackson and Drew back to the Appleton apartment where Drew's car was parked. (*Id.* at 72-73).

Everyone remained quiet during the drive and when they arrived, Drew got out and went to his car while Jackson got out and put away his gun. (*Id.* at 74-75). Rivera went into the apartment, turned off the light, and sat in the dark and realized he had to play it cool or possibly be killed. (*Id.* at 74-75). Rivera did not learn what had happened to B.J. until days later when saw it on the news. (*Id.* at 75-76). That was when he first learned that someone else had been in the car. (*Id.*).

Rivera was shocked that people he knew had killed his friend and he did not know what to do. (*Id.*). When Rivera

heard from his mother that the police were looking for him about a shooting, he eventually went to Green Bay where he had a friend. (*Id.* at 77). Rivera did not have any contact with Drew or Jackson after that, knowing that showing any weakness could be fatal.⁹ (*Id.* at 77-78).

Argument

II. TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE BY FAILING TO SECURE SUPPRESSION OF B.J.'S IN-COURT IDENTIFICATION OF RIVERA ON THE GROUNDS IT WAS TAINTED BY A HIGHLY SUGGESTIVE "SHOW-UP" PROCEDURE.

The constitutional right to counsel includes the right to effective assistance of counsel. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984). To prevail on an Ineffective Assistance of Counsel (IAC) claim, the defendant must prove: (1) counsel's performance was deficient; and (2) the deficiency prejudiced his defense. *Id.*. To establish prejudice, the defendant must show a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's error(s), the result of the trial would have been different. A reasonable probability is one sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome. *State v. Thiel*, 2003 WI 111, 264 Wis.2d 571, 665 N.W.2d 305; *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694. The focus is not on the outcome of the trial, but on the reliability of the proceedings. *Thiel*, 2003 WI 111, ¶ 20.

Reasonably effective defense counsel will have a general understanding of a client's constitutional rights and the exclusionary rule. Failure to be aware of controlling law in the jurisdiction in which one practices is deficient performance. *Thiel*, at ¶ 51 (failure to understand statute is deficient performance as a matter of law); *State v. Felton*, 110 Wis. 2d 485, 504, 329 N.W.2d 161 (1983) (ignorance of statutorily-authorized defense and failure to investigate constitutes IAC);

_

⁹ The physical evidence corroborated Rivera's testimony. His fingerprints were not found anywhere on the crime scene. (R263-34). Nor was Rivera's DNA ever found at the crime scene. (*Id.* at 106-112). Drew's fingerprint, however, was found on the duct tape. (*Id.* at 12). And yet, it does not appear Drew was ever charged with any crimes arising from this incident.

State v. DeKeyser, 221 Wis. 2d 435, 451, 585 N.W.2d 668 (Ct. App.1998) ("Trial counsel is expected to know the law relevant to his or her case."), overruled on other grounds by State v. Veach, 2002 WI 110, 255 Wis. 2d 390, 648 N.W.2d 447.

The issues in this case pertain to suppression of B.J.'s identification of Rivera at trial. Accordingly, this is a case where ineffective assistance of counsel, *vel non*, turns entirely on the merits of the underlying issues counsel did not raise. Here, deficient performance and prejudice are joined at the hip. They are bound by a synergy because if suppression was there for the taking, it was deficient not to take it. And absent an incourt identification by B.J., precious little remained to suggest Rivera was the perpetrator. There was no gun and no forensic evidence to tie him to the crime scene. B.J.'s in-court identification of Rivera was the centerpiece and pillar of the State's case against Rivera. Confidence in Rivera's guilt would be undermined and there would have been reasonable doubt. The reliability of the proceedings would be very suspect.

In denying Rivera's motion, and concluding he failed to prove IAC, the circuit court leaned heavily, too heavily, on the State's brief:

For the reasons set forth in State's postconviction response brief, which the court adopts and incorporates as part of its decision in this matter, and herein, the court finds that the defendant has not set forth a viable claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel, and further, that the issues presented are not clearly stronger than those raised by former appellate counsel during the direct appeal.

(R226-4) (emphasis added). Nearly one decade earlier, this Court frowned on just such an approach. *State v. McDermott*, 2012 WI App 14, ¶ 9, fn 2, 339 Wis. 2d 316, 810 N.W.2d 237.

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