Filed 12-22-2021

Page 1 of 36

FILED 12-22-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2021AP1100

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ALBERTO E. RIVERA,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DENYING A WIS. STAT. § 974.06 MOTION WITHOUT A HEARING ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JEFFREY A. WAGNER, PRESIDING

RESPONSE BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

SARAH L. BURGUNDY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1071646

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

The circuit court soundly denied Rivera's Wis. Stat. § 974.06 motion without a hearing.

A defendant is barred from raising a claim for relief under Wis. Stat. § 974.06 absent a "sufficient reason" for having failed to raise the claim in his previous postconviction motion or on direct appeal. *See Romero-Georgana*, 360 Wis. 2d

¹ The Honorable Jeffrey A. Wagner presided over both Rivera's trial and his Wis. Stat. § 974.06 proceedings.

522, ¶ 34 (citing State v. Escalona-Naranjo, 185 Wis. 2d 168, 173, 517 N.W.2d 157 (1994)). In some cases, ineffective assistance of postconviction counsel may be a sufficient reason for failing to raise an available claim sooner. Id. ¶ 36 (citations omitted). To prove that original postconviction counsel was deficient for failing to raise or preserve claims for direct appeal, a defendant must show that the unraised or unpreserved claims are "clearly stronger" than those previously raised. Id. ¶ 46.

Thus, when a defendant claims ineffective assistance of postconviction counsel as a proposed sufficient reason, he must prove (1) deficient performance, i.e., that counsel's performance was objectively unreasonable, and (2) prejudice, i.e., "that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 694 (1984). "It is well-established that trial counsel could not have been ineffective for failing to make meritless arguments." *State v. Allen*, 2017 WI 7, ¶ 46, 373 Wis. 2d 98, 890 N.W.2d 245. By extension, unraised, but meritless, ineffective assistance of trial counsel claims cannot be "clearly stronger" than those raised on appeal or support a claim of ineffective assistance of postconviction counsel.

Here, the postconviction court correctly denied Rivera's motion without a hearing. The proposed suppression motions Rivera argued that trial counsel should have advanced would have failed; therefore, trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to raise them. And since Rivera's proposed claims of ineffective assistance of trial counsel would have been rejected, they were not "clearly stronger" than the claims raised in his direct appeal. Accordingly, Rivera's original postconviction counsel provided effective assistance and Rivera failed to show a sufficient reason allowing him to overcome the *Escalona-Naranjo* bar.

A. The trial court would have denied a motion to suppress Beth's in-court identification based on the showup procedure.

Rivera first claims that his trial counsel was ineffective for not seeking suppression of Beth's in-court identification of Rivera, which in his view was tainted by an "impermissibly suggestive" showup procedure when law enforcement showed Beth a photograph of Rivera when she was in the hospital and asked her if she recognized the person. (Rivera's Br. 15–26.)² As discussed below, Rivera cannot show that law enforcement's showing Beth a single photo was improper or that it would form a basis to exclude her in-court identification of Rivera.

1. An in-court identification is suppressed only when it is tainted by an out-of-court procedure that was impermissibly suggestive and unreliable.

Generally, the admissibility of evidence is governed by the rules of evidence. State v. Roberson, 2019 WI 102, ¶ 25, 389 Wis. 2d 190, 935 N.W.2d 813. It is up to the jury to determine whether the evidence is credible and what weight it should be given. Id. The Constitution "protects a defendant against a conviction based on evidence of questionable reliability, not by prohibiting introduction of the evidence, but by affording the defendant means to persuade the jury that the evidence should be discounted as unworthy of credit." *Perry v. New Hampshire*, 565 U.S. 228, 237 (2012).

Yet, in some circumstances, due process requires the exclusion of evidence shown to be unreliable. For example, an eyewitness identification that has been "infected by improper

 $^{^{2}}$ Citations to Rivera's brief are to the electronic filing page numbers.

police influence' may be excluded when 'there is "a very substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification," unless 'the indicia of reliability are strong enough to outweigh the corrupting effect of the police-arranged suggestive circumstances." *Roberson*, 389 Wis. 2d 190, ¶ 26 (quoting *Perry*, 565 U.S. at 232).

Recently, in *Roberson*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court concluded that that analysis applies to a showup, which includes "an out-of-court pretrial identification procedure in which a suspect is presented singly to a witness for identification purposes," including when police show a witness a single photograph of a suspect. *Id.* ¶ 48.

This Court uses a two-step test to determine whether an identification resulting from a pretrial showup should be excluded. First, the defendant must prove that the police used an impermissibly suggestive procedure "such that there was a very substantial likelihood of misidentification." Id. ¶ 27. Courts determine on a "case-by-case basis" whether the particular facts establish that a showup procedure was impermissibly suggestive. Perry, 565 U.S. at 239. If the defendant that the showup procedure proves was impermissibly suggestive, the burden shifts to the State to show that the identification was nevertheless reliable. *Roberson*, 389 Wis. 2d 190, ¶ 27. Courts assessing reliability apply the so-called *Biggers* factors, which include: "(1) the opportunity of the witness to view the suspect at the time of the crime, (2) the witness' degree of attention, (3) the accuracy of [the witness'] prior description of the suspect, (4) the level of certainty demonstrated at the confrontation, and (5) the time between the crime and the confrontation." Id. ¶ 35 (citation omitted); see also Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188, 199-200 (1972).

Even if a showup was impermissibly suggestive and unreliable, a circuit court may still admit an in-court identification if that identification is based on an independent source. State v. David J. Roberson, 2006 WI 80, ¶ 34, 292 Wis. 2d 280, 717 N.W.2d 111. To be admissible, "the in-court identification must be made 'by means sufficiently distinguishable to be purged of the primary taint"; in other words, it "must rest on an independent recollection of the witness's initial encounter with the suspect." *Id.* The State must prove by clear and convincing evidence that the witness's in-court identification was based on observations of the defendant that occurred independent of and before the improper out-of-court identification process. *Id.* ¶¶ 35, 68. That determination involves a seven-factor analysis identified in *United States v. Wade*, 388 U.S. 218, 242 (1967):

(1) the prior opportunity the witness had to observe the alleged criminal activity; (2) the existence of any discrepancy between any pre-lineup description and the accused's actual description; (3) any identification of another person prior to the lineup; (4) any identification by picture of the accused prior to the lineup; (5) failure to identify the accused on a prior occasion; (6) the lapse of time between the alleged crime and the lineup identification; and (7) the facts disclosed concerning the conduct of the lineup.

State v. McMorris, 213 Wis. 2d 156, 168, 570 N.W.2d 384 (1997) (citing Wade, 388 U.S. at 241); see also David J. Roberson, 292 Wis. 2d 280, ¶ 35 n.14.

The witness's familiarity with the suspect also can establish a sufficient independent basis for an in-court identification despite a suggestive showup procedure. In *State v. Larsen*, 141 Wis. 2d 412, 423, 415 N.W.2d 535 (Ct. App. 1987), for example, this Court upheld a witness's in-court identification of the defendant following a single-photograph identification when the witness had previously met the defendant.³ Similarly to this case, in *Larsen*, the witness knew Larsen by sight from having met him on a few occasions and identified him by name before being shown his photograph. *Id.* at 423–24. Given that, the pretrial photo identification "was not tainted" and provided no basis to exclude the witness's trial identification. *Id.* at 424.

2. The Facebook photo was not impermissibly suggestive.

Here, an officer rode to the hospital with Beth, who told police that she knew the gunman, that he was known to her as "Berto" or "Alberto," and told the officer that "she had seen him approximately four times on prior occasions." (R. 262:58– 59.) She described Alberto as "a male, Hispanic, approximately 30 years of age, with a stocky build and possible facial hair." (R. 262:59.)

Police followed up with Hodges's nephew, Kyraim, to try to determine who Alberto was. (R. 262:62, 68–69.) Kyraim told police that he knew Alberto through his uncle and he took police to Alberto's apartment, which was the same apartment Beth had seen Hodges go to the night of the crime. (R. 262:62–

³ Other courts recognize that a witness's familiarity with the suspect makes it less likely that a suggestive showup or lineup has tainted their identification. *See Commonwealth v. Ali*, 10 A.3d 282, 303 (Pa. 2010) (stating that a witness's prior familiarity with the defendant creates an independent basis for an in-court identification); *Simons v. State*, 860 A.2d 416, 422 n.1 (Md. App. 2004) (citing cases recognizing that an unduly suggestive identification is less likely to taint an in-court identification when an eyewitness knew the witness before the crime occurred). *People v. Graham*, 725 N.Y.S.2d 145, 148 (N.Y. App. Div. 2001) (in determining whether a witness was "impervious to suggestion," courts consider factors including the "details of the extent and degree of the protagonists' prior relationship, their encounters, and how they knew one another").

63.) At the officers' request, Kyraim found a photograph of Alberto on Facebook. (R. 262:64.) When shown the photograph at trial, Kyraim testified that it depicted the Alberto he knew to be his late uncle's friend; Kyraim also made an in-court identification of Rivera. (R. 262:64–65.)

At around 6 p.m. on the day after the shooting, a detective visited Beth in the hospital and brought the Facebook photo that Kyraim had supplied. (R. 262:77, 80.) The detective told Beth that he "had a photograph [he'd] like to show her to see if she recognized the person" in it. (R. 262:77.) While the photograph included the name "Alberto Ortiz," the detective displayed the photo in a way that prevented Beth from seeing the name. (R. 262:79.) When Beth looked at the photo, she "gasped, opened her mouth, and said, "That's him." (R. 262:78.) She said that she was 100 percent certain that the person in the photograph was the gunman and the person she knew as Alberto "based on her past dealings with him," having seen him approximately six times before the crime. (R. 262:77–79.)

When Beth saw the photograph, she had already told police that she knew the person who shot her and that his name was Alberto. (R. 262:30, 50.) Beth testified that none of the officers at the crime scene mentioned the name Alberto, and that she was the first person to identify the gunman by that name. (R. 262:50–51.) And she confirmed that she gave the name Alberto to police because she knew the person who pointed the gun at her as Alberto.

At trial, Beth was again shown the Facebook photo and confirmed that it depicted the person who she saw with the gun the day of the crime. (R. 262:30.) She acknowledged, while shown the photo (R. 102) on direct, and later when questioned on cross-examination, that the name "Alberto Ortiz" appeared at its bottom. (R. 262:32–33, 44.) But Beth never said that she saw the name when the detective showed her the photo in the hospital; at best, she couldn't remember if she saw the name at the time. (R. 262:51–52.). Moreover, Beth explained that she recognized in the photo the face of the person she knew as Alberto, who was Hodges's friend and who had held her at gunpoint that night. (R. 262:52, 55.) She confirmed that she "identified the name Alberto and the face of the defendant . . . because that's who [she] saw that night." (R. 262:52.)

In all, the procedure was not impermissibly suggestive. The detective showed Beth a photograph of Rivera after corroborating whom the Alberto Beth had named could be. The police narrowed down who Alberto was after Hodges's nephew independently confirmed that he also knew Alberto, and produced a photograph of him. The detective showed Beth that photo (but not the name). The detective also did not tell Beth that the photo was of Alberto or a suspect; he simply asked if she recognized the person. And Beth confirmed immediately that the person was the Alberto she knew and the Alberto who pointed a gun at her that night. In short, Beth identified Rivera by the photo because she knew him and recognized him as the gunman, not because of a name on the photo or the fact that it was the only photo that the detective showed her.

3. Beth's identification was reliable, and the showup procedure did not taint her later identifications of Rivera.

Even if the showup was impermissibly suggestive, Beth's identification of Rivera from the photo was reliable based on the facts applied to the *Biggers* factors.

The first two factors consider the witness's opportunity to view the suspect at the time of the crime and her degree of attention. *Biggers*, 409 U.S. at 199. These factors "appear to question identifications where a witness briefly sees a stranger, perhaps out of a window, under poor conditions." *Roberson*, 389 Wis. 2d 190, ¶ 72. Here, Beth knew Rivera, she had seen him five or six times before, and she recognized him when he stood just outside her car window, his face unconcealed, and talked to her. Beth's observation of Rivera was not in passing or from a distance; he was within a few feet of her and had her attention, particularly once he aimed his gun at her.

Beth's observations of Rivera did not end there. Even though she had to put her head down once she was in the back of the car, she sensed that the gunman got into the second row, where over the course of the ordeal Beth heard Rivera speak to Hodges and others; she testified that she recognized Rivera's voice. (R. 262:20.)

As for the third factor, Beth provided police with a description of Rivera before identifying him in the photo. Beth knew his first name was Alberto, she knew where he lived, and her description of him as "a male, Hispanic, approximately 30 years of age, with a stocky build and possible facial hair" (R. 262:59) was not inaccurate.

As for the fourth and fifth factors weighing the level of certainty and length of time between the crime and confrontation, both favor reliability. Beth immediately identified Rivera in the photo the day after the crime, reacting emotionally, saying "[t]hat's him," and confirming with 100 percent certainty that Rivera was the Alberto she knew. To that end, Beth consistently testified that she knew Rivera by his face, not simply because the police showed her a photo and not based on any physical features like tattoos. She never signaled any uncertainty or assumptions about who the gunman was. In her statements to police, in her out-of-court identifications, in her in-court identification, and in her testimony at trial, she never expressed doubt or hesitation about identifying Rivera.

To that end, there was no basis based on the showup to suppress Beth's in-court identification of Rivera. The *Wade* factors demonstrate that Beth's in-court identification was not tainted by her seeing the photo. As discussed, Beth saw Rivera face-to-face and heard him speak over the many minutes that the crime took place. There were no significant discrepancies between her description of Rivera to police and his actual appearance. Beth did not identify or suggest that anyone else was the gunman, and never failed to identify Rivera as the gunman. The lapse of time between the crime and Beth's seeing the photo was short, just a day. And again, Beth had seen Rivera before that night. *Cf. Larsen*, 141 Wis. 2d at 422–23 (witness's prior familiarity with defendant supported determination that in-court identification was not tainted).

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